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“Riveting, suspenseful and tragic, ROGUE WARRIOR explodes like a hand grenade  . . . a must read. Dick Marcinko is the last of a breed of salty, bigger-than-life characters, and his story is filled with special people who have special courage and spirit. ROGUE WARRIOR is a fascinating book—holds the reader like a vise.”

—Colonel David H. Hackworth, USA (Ret.), bestselling author of ABOUT FACE: The Odyssey of an American Warrior

“Marcinko makes The Terminator look like Tiny Tim. . . .”

—Virginian Pilot and Ledger Star

“ROGUE WARRIOR [moves at] breakneck speed with the punch of a thriller. . . . You’ll learn more about SEAL Team Six than you’ll get from any Top Secret Pentagon briefing. . . .”

—Richard Perle, former Assistant Secretary of Defense
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VIETNAM, 1968: Leader of a SEAL platoon, Marcinko became an expert at guerrilla war. When the Viet Cong overran Chau Doc, he and his men defied a spit-and-polish colonel’s orders and fought street to street, house to house, to rescue trapped civilian women. . . .

CAMBODIA, 1973: Marcinko was training Cambodian Navy officers when the trainees disappeared, leaving him floating in a river above forty pounds of C-3 explosive rigged to explode—with Khmer Rouge gunners shooting at him from both shores . . . .

A Military Book Club Main Selection

“Marcinko’s ornery and joyous aggression  . . . brought him to grief and to brilliance in war. . . . Here, his accounts of riverine warfare  . . . are galvanic, detailed, and told with a rare craftsman’s love  . . .  profane and asking no quarter: the real nitty-gritty, bloody and authentic.”

—Kirkus Reviews

“Richard Marcinko’s bestselling autobiography reads like the plots for about six Arnold Schwarzenegger or Sylvester Stallone movies.”

—Sacramento Bee

“Marcinko recounts his life story with a two-fisted, in-your-face style, liberally sprinkled with profanity, rough humor, braggadocio, and violence both on and off the battlefield . . . . Despite, or perhaps because of, a personality that could abrade the paint off a battleship, he’s a fascinating man with a compelling tale to tell.”

—Booklist
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WASHINGTON, D.C., 1980: In a Special Classified Intelligence Facility in the Pentagon, Marcinko and others listened helplessly as Delta Force commandos attempted the ill-fated rescue of the American hostages in Iran . . . .

VIEQUES ISLAND, 1981: Nineteen thousand feet above the Caribbean island, Marcinko’s first parachute failed. His backup chute collapsed too. He was spiraling wildly in the blackness toward a target he believed held armed terrorists, a hostage, and a hijacked nuclear weapon . . . .

“One of the first real peeks inside SEAL Team Six.”

—San Diego Union

“Special-warfare devotees will find ROGUE WARRIOR to their liking . . . . Marcinko’s anti-authoritarian behavior, as he improvises his own doctrine of unconventional warfare, makes for entertaining reading.”

—Publishers Weekly

“Marcinko was too loose a cannon for the U.S. Navy . . . . ROGUE WARRIOR is not a book for the faint of heart.”

—People
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THE NORTH SEA, 1982: In freezing water with waves that flipped Boston whalers like pancakes, Marcinko led SEAL Team Six and German GSG-9 commandos in an anti-terrorist training exercise, storming an ice-encrusted oil rig . . . .

CALIFORNIA, 1985: Marcinko and his Red Cell team staged a successful mock-attack on Air Force One, outwitting the Secret Service, a special SWAT team, an Air Force security detail, the FBI, Marine guards, Navy Security sweeps, Department of Defense police, local rent-a-cops, and the Point Mugu Naval Air Station’s fire department. . . .
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To the shooters—
who have been,
and always will be


To avoid compromising special operations sources and methods, certain names, locations, and time frames have been modified. Tactical details and chronological sequences have also been altered so as not to betray current SpecWar techniques.


It’s not the critic who counts. . . . The credit belongs to the man who actually is in the arena, who strives violently, who errs and comes up short again and again . . . who if he wins, knows the triumph of high achievement, but who if he fails, fails while daring greatly.

—Theodore Roosevelt

If we weren’t crazy, we’d all be insane.

—Jimmy Buffett


Foreword
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IN THE HISTORY OF THE U.S. NAVY THERE HAS NEVER BEEN an unconventional warrior quite so unconventional as Dick Marcinko.

Perhaps the best indication of his capabilities was that in August 1980, at the age of thirty-nine, Marcinko, then a commander, was picked by the Chief of Naval Operations, Thomas Hayward, to design, build, equip, train, and lead what many believe to be the best counterterror force in the world, SEAL Team Six.

His route to the command of Six was circuitous. A renegade high-school dropout from a broken home in the Pennsylvania coal fields, Marcinko made the Navy his career and special warfare his obsession. As a gung-ho young SEAL officer in Vietnam, he operated behind enemy lines. While others dug in behind barbed wire and sandbags, Marcinko and his platoon—in black pajamas and barefoot, using captured Soviet weapons and ammo—hunted the Viet Cong deep inside their own turf.

During one six-month period, Marcinko’s SEALs performed an incredible 107 combat patrols, with more than 150 confirmed VC killed and 84 captured. During two tours in Vietnam, Marcinko won the Silver Star, four Bronze Stars with Combat “V,” two Navy Commendation Medals, and the Vietnamese Cross of Gallantry with Silver Star. As a Naval attaché in Cambodia in 1973 and 1974, Marcinko’s exploits included body-surfing behind a patrol boat on the Mekong River during a Khmer Rouge ambush. He spent 291 days in combat in Cambodia, and was awarded the Legion of Merit for his actions.

The Navy was Dick Marcinko’s life. It gave him an education—a high-school diploma, a B.A., even a master’s in international relations. It also gave him a deadly trade: unconventional warrior. Ambushes, booby traps, exotic weapons, high-altitude parachute drops, underwater infiltrations—Marcinko is a virtuoso of them all.

The day he assumed command of SEAL Team Six, CNO Hayward’s orders to Marcinko were brief—almost to the point of curtness. He was told he had less than six months to bring the new unit “on line.” He was ordered to get the job done, whatever the personal or professional cost. “Dick, you will not fail,” is what Hayward said.

To achieve that goal, Marcinko rewrote the rule book on unconventional warfare, and its training. He cut corners. He stepped on toes. He wheedled and cajoled. He threatened—and occasionally he terrorized. His sin was that he believed the end was worth the means; his hubris, that he thought he could get away with it.

Indeed, if we’re talking heroic here about Dick Marcinko (and I believe we should be), he is heroic in the classic sense of the word: Dick’s warrior hubris was too much for some of the Pentagon’s Olympians, and so a few Navy technocrat “gods” brought him down as an example to others.

The specific tragic flaw that caused Marcinko’s fall was one of his most gallant qualities: loyalty. His loyalties always lay with the men under his command, rather than with the Navy system of which he was a part.

Marcinko has never been reluctant to admit as much. Soon after we met, I asked him if the litany of transgressions against the system the Navy accused him of committing were true.

“Absolutely,” he said. “Guilty as charged. Guilty of preaching unit integrity above other values. Guilty of putting my men before bureaucratic bullshit. Guilty of spending as much money as I can get my hands on to train my men properly. Guilty of preparing my men for war instead of peace. Of all these things am I indeed guilty. Mea culpa, mea culpa, mea maxima fucking culpa.”

Dick Marcinko’s story is as exciting as any piece of fiction—but it is more than that. It is the provocative chronicle of an American hero—a warrior whose legacies still live on, through the men he trained, and led, and inspired.

—John Weisman

Chevy Chase, MD

October 1991


Part
One
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1

January 1981

IT WAS A BIG FIRST STEP—NINETEEN THOUSAND FEET BETWEEN the soles of my boots and the scrubby jungle—but I didn’t have time to think about that. The green light was on and the jumpmaster was pointing vaguely in my direction, so I blew a polite kiss at him and went out for a walk—took a stroll off the deep end of the C-130’s greasy ramp and dove into the nighttime sky. Just the way I’d done it more than a thousand times before.

The ice-cold slipstream punched at me as the blacked-out plane disappeared overhead. I looked down. Nothing. Almost four miles to the ground—too far to see anything yet, or for anyone down there to have heard the plane.

I looked around me. Zippo. What had I expected? To see my men? That would be impossible, too, of course. We were showing no lights, carried nothing reflective, and were all dressed in dark camouflage tigerstripes, invisible in the blackness above our objective, Vieques Island, in the Caribbean far below.

I clenched my fist and tucked my elbow in silent triumph. Yes! Right on! The first eight seconds of this operation had gone absolutely perfectly. So far, we were ahead of the curve. I checked the altimeter on my wrist then pulled the rip cord. I sensed my chute slip out of the backpack and felt it separate.

I was yanked skyward by the harness in the bungee-cord way you’re always bounced by a chute. Then all of a sudden I veered sharply to my right and began to spiral wildly, uncontrollably, toward the ground.

So much for perfection. I looked up. One of the cells of my sky-blue silk canopy had collapsed in the crosswind. I tugged on the guidelines to shake it out and fill the chute with air, but couldn’t make it happen.

It didn’t help that I was carrying almost a hundred pounds of equipment strapped to a specially built combat vest or attached to my fatigues. The weight was a problem in the thin air during HAHO—high altitude, high opening—jumps. Most of what I carried was lethal. There was my customized Beretta 92-SF in its thigh holster, along with eleven clips of ammo—165 rounds of hollow-point Hydra-Shok, custom-made hot loads that could literally blow a man’s head off. Hanging from a strap attached to my shoulder was a specially modified HK—Heckler & Koch—MP5 submachine gun and 600 rounds of jacketed hollow-point in 30-round magazines.

Then there were the other goodies: flash-bang grenades and thunder-strips to disorient bad guys; strobes and light-sticks for guiding choppers into a drop zone. Wire snips for cutting through fences. And I carried a selection of the miniaturized communications stuff we’d developed—strapped to my waist was a secure Motorola walkie-talkie (it came with lip mikes and earpieces so we could talk and listen to each other while moving. No Secret Service whispering into our shirt cuffs for us).

In the upper right-hand pocket of my combat vest was a satellite transceiver, a SATCOM unit about the same size as a cellular phone. On it I could talk to my boss, Brigadier General Dick Scholtes, who ran the Joint Special Operations Command, back at his Ops Center at Ft. Bragg, North Carolina, as clearly as if I were in the next room instead of almost two thousand miles down the road.

I laughed out loud. Maybe I should punch up Scholtes now. “Hey, General, I’m calling about this little momentary snag that’s developed. Dickie’s about to go squish.”

Another two air cells in the parasail collapsed and the chute folded in half. Okay, so it screwed up. No problem. I’d rehearsed this move maybe eighty, a hundred times during practice jumps. I did a cutaway, jettisoned the faulty canopy, then resumed free-fall. Fifteen thousand feet and cruising.

Five seconds later I yanked the cord on my second chute. It started to open nicely. Then it developed a fissure, folded in half, and collapsed just like number one, and the crazy corkscrewing began all over again.

I didn’t have any more backups.

I tore at the lines with both hands to open the parasail to its full width, screaming profanities into space.

It came to me in the absolutely clear way things come to dying men that I had been the thirteenth jumper to exit the C-130. This was a bad joke on Dickie. This wasn’t the way it was supposed to happen. Down there—where I was about to splatter myself into strawberry-colored goo—were, according to what we’d been told, thirty to forty armed terrorists, a hostage, and a hijacked nuclear weapon.

This clandestine airborne assault was the culmination of five months of bone-wrenching, take-it-to-the-limit training—eighteen hours a day, seven days a week. I was spiraling wildly in the blackness because the U.S. Navy, in its infinite wisdom, had chosen me to design, build, equip, train, and lead what I now believed to be the most effective and highly secret counterterror force in the world—SEAL Team Six.

Admiral Thomas Hayward, the chief of naval operations, gave me the order to create the unit himself, not ninety days after our disastrous April 1980 rescue attempt of the American hostages held in Tehran.

What the CNO had said to me was unequivocal: “Dick, you will not fail.”

I took his words to heart. SEAL Team Six trained harder than any unit had ever trained before, waiting for the opportunity to show the skeptical bureaucrat-sailors and dip-dunk bean-counters prevalent in Washington that it was possible for the U.S. Navy to fight back effectively against terrorists. I had cut more than a few corners and stepped on a shoe store full of toes carrying out Admiral Hayward’s order.

And I hadn’t failed—until now, it seemed. Was it now all going to come to this? Dickie gets slam-dunked and misses all the fun while the rest of the guys get to kick ass and take names?

No way. I was only forty—far too young to die. I yanked on the guides again. No fucking way I was going to buy it. Not like this. Not because my outrageously expensive, personally selected, ingeniously modified, packed-by-my-own-loving-hands, goddamn fucking parachute didn’t work.

I dragged at the lines with as much force as I could muster. Finally, the two far right-hand cells filled with air and I began a controlled descent, spiraling in lazy circles as I hung in the harness, sweating, and tried to figure out where the hell I was.

Where I was, was about three miles out over the ocean, the speed of the C-130 and the free-fall having carried me way off my original flight path. I could see beach below, so I checked my compass and altimeter and changed course, parasailing back toward the prearranged 300-square-yard landing zone, a little airstrip cut into the rough countryside about half a mile from where the terrorists were holed up. We’d chosen it as our assembly point from an ultra-high-resolution NSA satellite photo that had been faxed to us during our flight down from Norfolk.

I was at eleven thousand feet now, and by my best guesstimate I had about ten miles before touchdown. I watched the breakers wash ashore more than two miles beneath my feet, phosphorescent white crescents moving in rippling, parallel lines. Beyond the sea was the jungle. It was, as I knew from the intel pictures, scrubby jungle, the kind common to much of the Caribbean and Latin America. Not rain forest, thank God, with its treacherous high canopy of trees that made parachute landings a bitch. If it’d been rain forest we’d have had to jump way offshore and land on a narrow strip of beach, or come in by sea, swimming from a mother ship, an innocent-looking, apparently civilian vessel that passed far off the coast, or landing in specially modified IBSs—rubberized inflatables that, along with us, were dropped by ships or low-flying planes.

I looked up. No stars. No moon. The chute was now working perfectly, and from the way the wind was blowing, I knew I’d make the landing zone easily. I had a twenty-minute glide ahead of me, and I decided to sit back and enjoy the ride.

I figured I could. Surprise would certainly still be on our side. All the intelligence we’d received during our flight from the States indicated the bad guys wouldn’t be expecting us. Not so soon. That’s what made SEAL Team Six so special. We were unique; a small, highly mobile, quick-reaction team trained to do one job: kill terrorists and rescue hostages, and do it better than anybody in the world. Nobody could move as fast as we could. No other unit could come out of the water, or the sky, with equal ease.

Delta Force, the Army’s hostage-rescue unit originally commanded by my old colleague and sometime rival Colonel Charlie Beckwith, was good. But it was also big—more than two hundred operators—and it was cumbersome as a bloody elephant to move. My entire unit numbered only ninety, and we traveled light. We had to go that way: often, we had to swim to our objective with everything we’d need in tow.

Tonight, fifty-six SEAL Six jumpers parachuted off the ramps of two C-130s that had taken off from Norfolk, Virginia, six and a half hours previously. If my chute was the only one that had screwed up, they’d all be on final approach to the LZ by now, gliding into circular formations of seven, then dropping onto the ground by quickly pulling up, or flaring, just before their feet touched. It kept you from being dragged by your chute and making a furrow with your face.

Normally I’d have been a part of the pattern, but I’d been unavoidably detained and wanted to get onto the ground fast, so I flew a straight approach into the LZ. As I came in, I could hear ambient canopy flutter all around me, and I knew the team was S-turning to eat up ground speed, then corkscrew circling and landing just as we’d trained to do. As for me, I came in fast and high—I didn’t brake as I was supposed to, never flared, and took out a small tree at the end of the overgrown runway. I never even saw it coming. I was at maybe fifteen feet or so and then—blam—took the trunk smack in the face.

It was a good hurt. The kind that made me feel I was alive. I left the canopy up in the foliage, hit the deck, and started to assemble the teams.

We did a fast count. I was ecstatic. Every man had made the LZ with equipment intact. I called JSOC—the Joint Special Operations Command—on the SATCOM and reported we were fifty-six out of fifty-six on the ground and were about to move.

Paul Henley, my XO—Six’s executive officer, who I’d nicknamed PV because of his Prince Valiant haircut—and I formed the teams into four prearranged assault groups.

I punched Paul on the upper arm. “Let’s go hunting.”

Following our NSA maps, we moved off silently into the jungle to the southwest, single file, weapons at the ready. We functioned entirely through hand signals, the way I’d done in Vietnam more than a decade earlier. Our moves were choreographed into a deadly sort of ballet—pas de mort—we’d worked on for months. No one spoke. No one had to. By now, PV and I thought alike. He’d been the first man I’d chosen for Six, a bright, energetic, capable young SEAL officer who could jump and shoot and party with the best of them.

Moreover, unlike me, he was an Academy grad, which gave Six some cachet with the bean counters. The Navy’s caste system has the reputation of being about as rigid as any in the world. The first thing most Navy officers do when they meet you is look at your hands to see whether or not you’re wearing a Naval Academy class ring. If you do, then you’re a part of the club. If you don’t, then you’re an untouchable. I was the original untouchable. The only things I wore on my knuckles were scars. But I loved my work and was uncommonly good at it, and in a few rare cases—mine included—the Navy establishment rewards ability almost as nicely as it does jewelry.

I checked my watch. Twenty-one seventeen. Two minutes behind the schedule I kept in my head.

•   •   •

We’d gotten the word to move twenty-seven hours beforehand. It came from JSOC. The first info was pretty sketchy: a Puerto Rican terrorist group called the Macheteros, or “machete wielders,” had broken onto the National Guard airfield just outside San Juan and destroyed $40 million worth of planes and equipment. That much of the story would make it into the newspapers.

What wouldn’t be reported, according to JSOC, was that during the attack the Macheteros—we commonly referred to terrorists in the radio phonetic term as Ts, or tangos—took a hostage, and a pallet load of equipment. Including, it was believed, a nuclear weapon. No one was sure. Don’t ask how no one could be sure whether or not an A-bomb was missing. This was the United States Air Force after all—home of $600 toilet seats and $200 pliers.

Anyway, the Macheteros, I was told, had managed to evade police dragnets, roadblocks, and SWAT teams and disappear. Except that U.S. intelligence tracked them to Vieques, a small island due east of Puerto Rico, where they had a clandestine training camp. That was where they were now.

I knew Vieques Island. I’d trained there as a member of Underwater Demolition Team 21 two decades ago. It seemed somehow incongruous that a bunch of tangos would choose for their clandestine base an island that normally crawled with U.S. military personnel.

Moreover, we’d had so many false alarms, I was suspicious that this scramble was just another cry-wolf operational drill, or another training exercise to be done in “real time,” known as a full mission profile. Indeed, we’d been scrambled by Dick Scholtes before, only to find out while we were in the air on the way to the “target” that we were part of some goatfuck war game JSOC had based on a real incident, to make us think we were playing for keeps.

Game or not, I was willing to play along. We had never performed a massed night jump over a hostile target. We’d also never coordinated so many elements at once—clandestine insertion, taking down the target, snatching a hostage and a nuke, and synchronizing an extraction from a hot landing zone was as complicated a series of tasks as SEAL Team Six had been required to perform in its short history.

The call-up had gone right according to schedule. Each man at Six carried a beeper at all times. When it went off, he had four hours to show up at a prearranged location with his equipment.

During the initial hours, while the crews were assembling, PV and I called in my ops boss, Marko, and Six’s master chief petty officer, Big Mac, and we began putting together our basic strategy. That’s the way it worked at Six. Officers, petty officers (Navy noncoms), and enlisted all had a say in what went on, although I made the ultimate aye-or-nay decision on everything.

We realized from the start that a seaborne operation was out of the question because it would have taken too long to land from a mother ship. That meant we’d be launching an air strike. And given the location of the terrorist camp, it would be easier to go straight in than drop us eight or ten miles offshore with our boats.

The first intelligence we received came from a guy I’ll call Pepperman, a former Marine lieutenant colonel who was working special ops assistance at the National Security Agency at Ft. Meade, Maryland, out of a room five or six stories below ground. That basement room was the hub for covert and clandestine operations all over the world, and my old friend Pepperman sat there like a balding Buddha, watching and listening as things went down.

Pepperman—I called him that because he grew his own incredibly hot Thai peppers in the backyard of his suburban Maryland home, a culinary holdover from his special ops days behind the lines in Southeast Asia—was one of those wonderful, ex-military scavengers who could get you anything, anytime. In Vietnam he’d probably been the type who could lay his hands on a bottle of Chivas or a case of beer even though he was six days into a ten-day long-range patrol behind the Green Line in Cambodia. Now, he was in the code-word-secret classified-information business, and there wasn’t much he couldn’t come up with, if you were a friend in need—and if you had the proper clearances, which I did.

He immediately supplied us with the kind of info that allowed me to outline our basic strategy: a thumbnail of who the bad guys were, their history, modus operandi, and basic political and military objectives. It didn’t take long to reach the bottom line: these people weren’t nice.

The Macheteros had been active since 1978. They were a small, well-financed, tightly organized guerrilla force of ultranationalists. Their objective was to wage a terrorist war against what they called “U.S. colonialist imperialism” in the broadside “communiquès” they distributed following dozens of attacks. They’d received training in Eastern Europe courtesy of the KGB—and they’d learned their deadly lessons well. The Macheteros had staged a number of lethal, effective attacks. Half a dozen Puerto Rican policemen had been shot, and in the fourteen months before the current raid, they’d murdered two U.S. sailors and wounded three other American military personnel in separate ambushes.

About an hour into the planning, my jumpmaster, a boatswain’s mate I called Gold Dust Frank, showed up. I gave him a quick rundown of what was going on. Then he and PV, who had been a member of the Navy’s parachute team, began to work out the intricacies of a 56-man clandestine jump and a ten-nautical-mile glide, given the approximate load each man would be carrying, the topography of Vieques Island, and the sort of landing zone we’d be dropping into.

Another pair of SEAL Six petty officers, Horseface and Fingers, showed up. They were my top demolition experts, and they started to assemble the explosive bundles necessary to take down an armed installation. Except they had a question or two I couldn’t answer.

Like: “How thick are the doors, Skipper? And are they wood or metal?”

“What am I, a goddamn clairvoyant?” I punched up the all-knowing Pepperman in his NSA basement.

“Pepperman, Dickie here. Can you give us an info dump on door thickness and material?”

He laughed out loud. “That’s always Delta’s first question, Marcinko, you dipshit asshole. What’s the matter, can’t you be original?”

I loved it when he talked like that. “Screw you, shit-for-brains.” I asked him to fax us a quick flick of the target area—the terrorist camp—so Horseface could determine the approximate size of a charge that would breach the door without blowing up the hostage inside. Meanwhile, Fingers (he was called that because he’d lost a couple doing demolition work) began building the other explosive charges—the ones we’d use to destroy the nuclear device if it couldn’t be brought out with us.

“I got a Blackbird working, Dick,” Pepperman said. That was good. It meant he’d already scrambled an SR-71 spy plane and its cameras were snap-snap-snapping away from 85,000 feet. At that height the bird was invisible to the normal eye—even to most binoculars. We’d have pictures in a couple of hours at most. “And we’ll start getting full imagery in seven, eight hours,” Pepperman continued.

“Full imagery” was the stuff from one of the KH-11—for Keyhole-11—spy satellites that NSA operated in conjunction with the CIA and the military. “Sounds good. Keep me posted, cockbreath.” I rang off before he could insult me back.

Our communications maven—I called him Ameche, after Don Ameche, who played Alexander Graham Bell in the thirties movie—reported for work. He began getting the SATCOM relays up and working. We don’t like to go through the operator in SEAL Team Six; we’re much more a directdial outfit. Our portable phones were called PSC-1 manpacks, which in Navyspeak translates as Portable Satellite Communications terminals.

PV and I worked the phones, negotiating with the Air Force to set the pickup time so Six, the hostage, and the nuke could all be exfiltrated by HH-53 choppers flown from the Air Force’s 20th Special Operations Squadron at Hurlburt Field, located on the western edge of the Eglin Air Force Base complex in Florida. Coordination was important: the four HH-53s had to be refueled in flight by a pair of MC-130E Combat Talon aircraft; moreover, they couldn’t arrive too early because they’d give our position away. If they kept us waiting, they’d leave us vulnerable in hostile—potentially deadly—territory. Once airborne, they’d sprint us from Vieques to a friendly airfield on the main island, about eleven minutes away. There, we’d rendezvous with a C-141 StarLifter out of Charleston, South Carolina, which would in turn move us and our packages back to CONUS—the CONtinental United States.

The team started to arrive midevening; guys drifting in from all over the Virginia Beach area. We looked like a bunch of dirtbags. The Navy called it “modified grooming standards.” I called it ponytails, earrings, beards, and Fu Manchu mustaches, biker’s jackets, tank tops, and T-shirts.

The guys’ cars and pickup trucks were crammed to overflowing with gear, covered with tarps or canvas. I’d bought them the best of everything, from mountaineering equipment to Draeger bubbleless underwater breathing apparatus. And until we were able to build each team member his own personal equipment cage, they had to bring everything with them each time there was a call-up. Who knew where we’d be going.

We went wheels up at 1400 hours. The guys looked tired but ready as they settled as comfortably as they could in the canvas cargo sling seats that ran up and down the sides of the C-130’s fuselage, or sacked out on the cargo pads that lay strewn on the greasy floor. Our shrink, Mike the Psych, wandered up and down, making sure nobody got too apprehensive. We’d learned from Delta that an SOB—Shrink On Board—was a good idea. First, you didn’t want a guy who’d go bonkers on you jumping with the team. Mike knew these men—if he sensed there might be a problem, I trusted him to let me know immediately.

Once we got airborne, I’d formulate our final plans based on the information and pictures that would start arriving on our scrambled fax machines. PV and I were on separate aircraft, but we could talk on secure phones and share information, or consult with Dick Scholtes at Ft. Bragg or call Pepperman in his Maryland basement for advice if we needed to.

I climbed the ladder to the cockpit and peered through the windshield, watching the sky darken. Pretty soon we’d refuel, a pair of KC-135 tankers lumbering above us at four hundred knots while the pilots nudged our C-130s up to the trailing fuel drogues, plugged up, and sucked gas. Absentmindedly, I dropped the clip out of my Beretta and popped a round into my palm. The clip—in fact, every round of ammunition carried tonight by SEAL Team Six—came from a special section of the base ammo lockers. It had been preloaded into magazines for our Berettas and HK submachine guns. Its release had been authorized by JSOC just prior to our departure.

Something was awry. The weight was wrong—lighter than the custom load I’d helped design. I dragged my fingernail across the dull lead hollow-point and left a track. It was a compound bullet—a goddamn training round. They were sending us on another pus-nuts exercise—a full mission profile.

Goddammit—the Macheteros were real enough, why the hell not let us take ’em on? We’d designed a good mission, based on real intelligence—and were executing it according to the numbers. Why the hell didn’t they let us do what we’d been trained to do? A decade and a half ago, in Vietnam, I’d learned firsthand what SEALs did best: hunt men and kill them. But even in Vietnam, the system kept me from hunting and killing as many of the enemy as I would have liked. Since Vietnam, no one had given me the chance to do that job again—until I’d been ordered to create this team of men whose only job, I was promised, would be the hunting and killing of other men.

Now the system was at it again. We were ready. Capable. Deadly. Why the hell weren’t we being used? I’d never considered SEALs strategic weapons—expensive systems that you keep in your arsenal as deterrents, but don’t use. SEALs are tactical. We want to be sent on missions. We wanted to shoot and loot, hop and pop—do all the wonderful, deadly things that SEALs are supposed to do.

I’d begun to believe we were finally getting our chance. The bullet in my palm told me otherwise.

Furious, I started for the secure radio to call Paul and tell him this was just another in the series of games our command structure was playing on us. Halfway down the ladder I stopped. Dickie had a better idea. I’d play out this little charade as if I didn’t know any better and turn it into my own war game.

I probably had more unanswered questions than JSOC anyway. Like, how would my men perform during this complicated series of tasks? They were all good—but which ones would become great under the pressure of keeping to a tight combat schedule? Would any of them realize we weren’t doing this for real—and if they did, what would their reactions be?

I wanted to learn which of them I could order to do a job—even though it might mean their deaths. Being cannon fodder was part of the assignment. Every man who’d volunteered for SEAL Team Six knew he was expendable—from me, right down to the youngest kid on the team. This was an opportunity to test that resolve—to see which ones would play for keeps, and which ones would, at the last instant, hold back.

That’s what SEAL Team Six was all about, anyway—playing for keeps. Oh, sure, the goddamn technology of war was almost beyond comprehension—and it wasn’t just air-refueling or high-tech satellites either, anymore, but microburst transmitters and stealth aircraft and hundreds of billions of dollars invested in technotoys—laser-guided, shoulder-fired missiles, computer-assisted antitank guns, “smart” bombs, and a whole collection of weapons that the assholes in the Pentagon were quick to tell you could think for themselves.

Today you could sit in a fighter, press a missile launch button, and kill an enemy twenty, thirty, forty miles over the horizon, watching his plane explode on a TV screen, just like the video games my kids played.

And yet, what it really came down to, after all the bullshit and the computers and the video, was the very basic question embodied by the bullet in my hand. Could one of my men look another human being in the eyes, then pull the trigger and kill that person without hesitating for an instant?

In Vietnam, I’d discovered who could kill and who couldn’t in combat. But that was fifteen years ago, and less than half of SEAL Team Six had ever been in combat. So there was only one way to find out who’d pull the trigger, and who’d freeze—which was to play this thing out and see who did his job and who didn’t. War, after all, is not Nintendo. War is not about technology or toys. War is about killing.
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ENSIGN INDIAN JEW, THE POINT MAN, SIGNALED. HE WAS half Yakima and half Brooklyn, hence the moniker. I used to kid him about growing up spearing and smoking salmon up on the Columbia River—but never being able to find any bagels or cream cheese.

I squinted in the darkness, barely able to pick him out against the foliage in his tigerstripes and camouflage war paint. But I’d seen him put his hand up, palm flat. Now he was clenching his fist. Enemy ahead. I moved up the line slow and easy, the MP5 in my hand. We’d covered about six hundred yards, making a hell of a lot more of a racket than I wanted to. If the bad guys had pickets out or they’d deployed electronic sensors, they’d surely know about us. That was something we hadn’t had a chance to work on—moving in large groups. Usually, SEALs operated in squads of seven, or in 14-man platoons. Frankly, I was uncomfortable at having to move so many men in one group because of the noise. But it couldn’t be helped. I felt lucky we hadn’t been observed so far.

I drew abreast of Jew and knelt next to him. He was one of the best I had—a former enlisted man whose capacity to learn fast was boundless. Jew epitomized the future of Navy Special Warfare—SpecWar in Navyspeak. He was big, smart, tough, too handsome for his own good, and ingeniously adroit when it came to the deadly arts.

I pulled my NV out. I took a look. The blackness became oscilloscope green; the foliage turned dark against the brightness. Two hundred feet ahead I could see a chain-link fence about eight feet high with a yard of barbed wire coiled on top. Beyond were two warehouses, as well as three other low, barracklike buildings. There were no lights. So much the better. The grounds were unkempt—a lot of cover for us to move behind. It looked just like the satellite picture that was folded in my pocket.

I mimed a man with a rifle to Jew. Any sentries?

He shook his head. No.

I gave him thumbs-up. I pointed at him. I snipped the air with index and middle finger. I mimed peering out.

He nodded. He’d cut through the wire and do a fast sneak and peek. We’d wait.

He slithered forward, moving with a slow, practiced crawl until he melted into the underbrush. Like so many of my guys he was perfectly at home in the jungle. He was too young to have served in Vietnam, but he’d adapted well to SEAL training in Panama and Florida and was one of the best scouts the unit had.

That he was an ensign didn’t matter. In Six, officers and men were interchangeable. No caste system for us.

I edged back and signaled the men to drop. They disappeared into the darkness. I lay back and stared at the sky, listening for anything out of the ordinary. I perceived nothing. The silence was good. You could hear the jungle’s natural sounds—insects, birds, whatever, resuming their normal activities. I smashed something small and winged and sharp that had decided to take up residence on my earlobe. Moments passed.

Jew came back. “Nothing, Skipper,” he whispered. “A second perimeter line of wire fences by the barracks there.” He pointed to the southwest. “And the warehouses east of the barracks, just like on the picture. I heard some noise—maybe they’re having a few cold ones.”

I punched him with my elbow. “Nice job.” I took a recon photo from my pocket. I motioned to PV and an officer I called Lieutenant Cheeks because his jowly face looked like a squirrel hoarding acorns. The three of us huddled over the picture as I illuminated it with a red-lensed pencil light. I showed them what I wanted done. They nodded and gave me thumbs-up.

I circled wagons with my index finger. “Let’s go to work.”

We would move in four 14-man platoons. PV would go south with two of them, work around the perimeter, and cut through the fence closest to the barracks. He’d lead one of his platoons and hit the storage area, where we believed the hostage to be. The other—Cheeks’—would neutralize the barracks.

I’d take down the warehouse where the nuke was, with my platoon. The last platoon, split into two seven-man boat crews, would act as flankers. They’d sweep up any bad guys who got between us and the gate. As we withdrew, they’d join up with Cheeks’ platoon as the blocking force, shielding our escape north and east, back to the LZ.

I pulled the headset onto my head, securing it with a lightweight knit cap. Then I fitted the earpiece snugly inside my left ear, adjusted the filament microphone so it sat on my beard just below my lower lip, ran the wire down the back of my neck, passed it through a slit in the shirt, and plugged it into the Motorola. I pressed the transmit button for an instant and tsk-tsked twice into the mike—radio-talk for affirmative. I heard PV do the same thing. Then I heard Cheeks and Jew. We were all on line and ready to go. And if the bad guys had scanners on, we hadn’t given them very much to scan. At least not yet.

I swept my arm left, then right. The SEALs moved into the shadows. I moved forward, following the path Jew had left me, until I came to the chain-link fence. I found the slit he’d made, took my snips and enlarged it slightly, then pulled myself through.

Once on the other side I slipped behind some scrub, took out my night-vision glasses, and secured the strap tightly around the back of my head. I didn’t wear them all the time because they tend to narrow your field of vision when you’re moving. And they made me slightly top-heavy, but now, when I needed to see inside a darkened building, they’d give me a terrific advantage.

I had a look around. All clear. I moved out, the MP5 cradled in my arms as I scrunched across the ground, moving silently from tree to tree to take the best advantage I could of the natural cover. Scanned the perimeter. Clear—nothing. No muzzles pointing from any of the roofs. No signs of life at all. I liked that.

Fifty feet from the warehouse I flicked the MP5’s safety downward to full fire, rose into a semicrouch and ran to the cinder-block wall.

The building was perhaps a hundred and fifty feet by sixty, topped by corrugated metal roofing that sat on exposed metal trusses, which allowed air flow in the tropical heat. Back and front entrances were heavy, fifteen-foot-wide, sliding, segmented metal doors that sat in tracks. On the side was a two-step, roofed porch and a metal, windowed door that led to some sort of office. There was light inside. On each side of the door were windows. In the left-hand one a rusting air conditioner wheezed and dripped water slowly, steadily, into a sizable puddle. That told me it had been turned on for some time.

I worked my way around the back end of the warehouse and snuck a look. It was all clear. I did a 360. Nothing. This was like stealing—no, this was better than stealing. I slowly edged up to the big, tracked door, moving a fraction of an inch at a time so as to make no noise. There was a small space between the segments, and sucking ground like a snail, I approached slowly, slowly, and had a look-see. For all I knew the Ts inside had NV glasses, too, and I didn’t want ’em screwing with me.

I let my eyes get accustomed to the interior. It looked quiet enough. The place was empty except for some 50-gallon drums piled along the wall to my left, and what looked like a three-quarter-ton Army truck parked close to the tracked doors opposite where I was. There was a scaffolding around the outer wall perhaps ten feet up, six or seven feet below the ventilation break where the walls stopped and the roof began.

Sitting on a wood pallet close to a door under which a crack of light escaped was a wooden crate about the same size a 2,000-pound bomb came packed in. That had to be the nuke.

Something was . . . not right. It was too quiet. I crushed my face into the hard ground to get a better look. It was impossible they’d leave the jewels unprotected, unless they didn’t know what they’d taken.

No way. It was a trap. Had to be a trap. I waited. Plotted. Schemed. Laughed silently at these assholes. It was a game of patience. It all came down to patience: would I move first, or would they.

I knew they were in there. I could sense ’em. Almost smell ’em. I controlled my breathing, slowed my whole system down the same way I’d done when I’d learned I could sit on the bottom of Norfolk harbor for three and a half minutes at a stretch during UDT training.

Oh, the fucking instructors—they loved me when I ran that game on ’em.

During E&E—evade and escape—training, they’d make us play hide-and-seek. They’d dump us in the water and then put boats out to search for us. It was like shooting fish in a barrel—you can’t swim fast enough to get away from boats with lights, and you gotta surface to breathe. To make it more interesting (and to give us some added incentive), the instructors usually pounded the crap out of you when they caught you, and they were tough sons of bitches, too.

So I cheated. That’s what E&E’s supposed to be about, anyway. I lost ’em by swimming like a bat out of hell until I was just off the slip of the Kiptopeake-Norfolk ferry—on the far side, so the ferry would come between them and me. Timing was everything. I waited until the ferry got real close, then made a lot of noise in the water. When they caught me in the lights, I dove. I swam underwater about thirty yards to the slip and sucked mud while the ferryboat docked, sitting on the bottom holding on to a filthy, greasy piling with the big screw churning eight feet above my head chunka-chunka-chunka. Then I came out of the water, checked to see if the instructors were anywhere close. They weren’t. So I chucked my mask and fins, climbed up over the port side of the stern onto the ferry, stole a set of mechanic’s overalls out of a locker, and walked right out onto the dock. Nobody noticed I was barefoot.

I studied them as they crisscrossed the harbor, searching for me for about half an hour. Then I ambled off the slip, bought a quart of beer with some change I found in the coveralls, came back, and drank almost all of it dockside. Then, when I was good and ready, I whistled and waved ’em over. I let them watch as I drained the last of the beer and tossed the bottle into the harbor. Oh, they loved me for that. I don’t know what made ’em madder—that I got away, or that I bought beer and didn’t share it.

Something moved. Behind the drums. Something back there. I waited. Looked intently at the truck. Something there, too. One or two in the back, muzzles protruding just over the back gate. M16s probably. Combat-scoped? Maybe. Just inside the door I heard a scrape-scraping. Just a little something—the shifting of a foot or a rifle butt on the door. I froze. No breathing. Chunka-chunka-chunka. Wait the sons of bitches out.

Only after some minutes did I withdraw the way I’d come, silently, inch by inch, careful not to leave tracks behind. I made my way around the side of the warehouse, did another 360. It was still clear. I slid myself along the wall to the window with the air conditioner, went under it, around the two-step porch, removed my goggles, and let my eyes adjust to the night again. Then I peered inside.

A middle-aged man with dark skin, dressed in a bulky, short-sleeved sweatshirt and greasy khaki trousers sat behind a desk facing me. He was wearing wraparound plastic shooter’s goggles—a giveaway that this was Memorex, not real—and he wrote intently in a spiral notebook with the stub of an old pencil, his thick lips moving as he formed the words. A bottle of Bud sat sweating at his left elbow. A blue steel .45 automatic lay next to it. He looked up from the page, ran a hand over thinning, kinky, salt-and-pepper hair. A broad face. A nose that had been broken too many times. Slit, yellowed eyes. Maybe fifty-five or so. Powerful, workingman’s hands that were obviously uncomfortable with the pencil.

I dropped back down onto my haunches and withdrew to the underbrush cover where I’d left the platoon. I briefed the squad leaders about the ambush. Everybody had night-vision equipment. They’d hit the doors simultaneously, working opposing fields of fire so they wouldn’t shoot each other. One squad would go left and high, working the truck and catwalk, the other would mirror—left and low, taking down the oil drums and opposite catwalk. I’d take down the guy in the office and come out by the nuke.

I pressed the Motorola’s remote transmit button that was clipped to my vest. The radio could be used either in an on-off mode, or switched to continual transmission. “One set,” I whispered.

I heard PV’s voice. “Two set.” The hostage snatch team was in position.

Cheeks checked in. “Three set.” Barracks sweepers were ready.

“Four set.” Jew’s blocking force was primed.

I looked at my watch. We’d been on the ground for forty-seven minutes. The operation was scheduled to last ninety, so our four choppers were already in the air, being refueled, and just under three-quarters of an hour away from touchdown. That gave us a slim, but acceptable, margin for error. I turned the Motorola on. “Six minutes. Then go.” Plenty of time to set up.

I gave hand signals and watched the squads move out. They knew their jobs. Each had become a superb shooter over the past five months. We didn’t train with regulation targets at SEAL Team Six. We used three-by-five-inch index cards pasted onto silhouettes. You had to be able to hit the card with a double-tap—that is, two shots in rapid succession—whether you were coming out of the water with the stainless Smith & Wesson .357 magnum pistol, or breaking through the hatch of a hijacked airplane with the Beretta.

Right-handed, left-handed, one-handed, two-handed, we shot in every conceivable manner. In fact, I didn’t care how my guys shot, just so long as they hit tight, man-killing groups every single time. No concentrating on fancy angles or head shots. Those techniques are what you see in movies, not Six. We used heavy loads that would knock terrorists down no matter where we hit them. Head, chest, arm, leg—it didn’t matter. In sniping—at ranges of six hundred and eight hundred yards—we were still a little behind the curve. But overall, my shooters were better than any in the world today, including Delta’s much publicized pistoleros.

I knew PV was in position. Six of his shooters would take out the bad guys holding the hostage; the others would clear any remaining terrorists. He had two medics with him in case the hostage was injured or hurt. Cheeks’ two squads would hose the barracks if the tangos inside got restless. My guys had a somewhat tougher job. They’d have to set up and blow the doors, then hit the ambushers in the dark, while I took out the guy in the office. After that we’d have to figure out a way to move the nuke back to the LZ—or render it unusable.

The digital timer on my watch was running. It showed one minute forty seconds elapsed. I was just under the air conditioner now, cool water dripping onto my shoulder. It felt good. My mind’s eye had a picture of the tango behind the desk. I’d catch him in the chest. The Beretta was in my hand, ready. In my earpiece I could hear PV, Cheeks, and Indian Jew’s breathing on the open lines. They could probably hear me, too.

A minute fifty. Four minutes, ten seconds to contact.

Suddenly automatic weapons fire broke out to the southwest. At the same time I heard PV’s voice: “Shit—early contact, early contact—everybody go.”

There was no time to lose. I rose, swiveled, and kicked the door just below the handle.

It burst inward. The dark man in the sweatshirt was already standing, pistol in his hand, as I came through low, Beretta in a two-handed grip. Before he could react I hit him with half a dozen shots in the chest. I fired so quickly the 9mm sounded like a submachine gun.

The loads punched him back against the wall. His .45 went flying. A dark stain spread from the center of his chest. I ejected the clip and slapped a spare, from a mag-holder taped to my right wrist, into the Beretta’s rubber-clad grip.

I looked up as I heard two explosions in rapid succession behind the office. The other two squads had initiated.

I grabbed the spiral notebook and did a cursory search for documents. There were three manila files in a desk drawer and I took them, too, rolling them and stuffing them into the cargo pocket of my fatigues. I hit the office lights to get my eyes ready for the NV goggles. I took out the SATCOM and told JSOC we’d initiated contact early, and to expedite the snatch. Four minutes may not seem like a lot of time, but on a hot LZ it’s an eternity.

I strapped my NV on and slid through the door into the warehouse, Beretta in my right hand. In my earpiece came the sound of heavy automatic weapons fire, followed by Cheeks’ raspy voice, “Well, get the mothers, already!”

The front and back doors had been blown open, and smoke grenades were filling the warehouse with opaque, white fog. I could hear my guys working the room and the staccato buzzsaw brrrrrp of return fire from M16s.

It was easy to tell who was who. The SEALs fired their MP5s in controlled, three-shot bursts. The bad guys were letting whole mags go at once.

I crawled to the pallet and reached left-handed into my vest for an atomic detection device. There was movement behind me, and it wasn’t one of us. I swiveled and fired at a shadow in the smoke, then rolled back toward the pallet.

The indicator told me whatever was in the crate was nuclear.

I heard PV’s voice in my ear. “Hostage clear. Alive and well.”

“Okay. Cheeks?”

“Call you back.”

“Jew?”

“A-okay.”

From my left I heard the Alpha squad leader, Fingers, shouting, “Alpha side clear.”

There was another long M16 burst from the far side of the warehouse, then six shots in rapid succession from a Beretta, then silence. Gold Dust Larry, Bravo’s squad leader, called out, “Bravo side clear.”

I pulled off the night-vision goggles and stowed them.

“Anybody down?”

“Not us, boss.”

“PV?”

“Nope.”

“Cheeks?”

“No.”

“Jew?”

“Ain’t seen no action yet, Skipper.”

“You won’t be disappointed.” I looked at the timer. Seven minutes, ten seconds.

I pulled SATCOM from my vest. “Six—all sites clear. Hostage and package under control. Nobody down but bad guys.”

That was because we were all firing blanks—but even so, it was damned good work by my guys. I stood up and secured my Beretta, windmilling my arms in the opaque, white smoke that still obscured much of the warehouse. “Anybody see a fan to get this smoke outta here? Let’s get on it.” I slapped the wood crate and called over to Gold Dust Larry, “Somebody get the three-quarter started. Let’s get this goddamn thing loaded and moving.”

“Aye-aye, Skipper.”

“PV—”

“Boss?”

“ETA to the LZ?”

“The hostage is pretty shaky. We’re gonna have to carry him out. Tangos were working him over when we arrived—nothing serious, just harassment, but he’s not used to it. I’ll be ready to up and out in six, seven minutes.”

“Ten-four. Cheeks?”

“I’m getting some hostile action here. I’ll withdraw clean in four to five minutes. We got a shitload of intel, Skipper.”

“That’s what I like to hear.” I heard a satisfying roar as Gold Dust Larry revved the truck’s engine. “Gotta go. See you at the LZ.”

The smoke was finally clearing out of the warehouse. “Somebody find a couple of two-by-fours or pieces of pipe. Let’s get this thing moved.”

I checked the Casio again. Elapsed time: sixty-three minutes. Twenty-seven minutes until the choppers touched down.

God, how time flies when you’re having fun.

We slid three rails under the crate. Four men to a rail, and two to stand guard. I showed them the atomic particle counter. They watched as the indicator moved into the red zone. “This shit is radioactive, so any numb-nuts dumb enough to drop it is gonna suffer. On three, heave and up.”

It was like the weightpile, but easier. The average Six bench press was just under four hundred pounds. It wasn’t going to take twelve of us to lift a 2,500-pound container, but I wanted everyone to have a piece of the action.

I watched them load while I checked the recon photo in my pocket. I’d marked an escape route with crayon. That was a stupid thing to do. What if I ate a bullet and the bad guys pulled the map out of my pocket? I rubbed the photo on my fatigues until I’d obliterated the red line. I knew where the hell we were going.

Gold Dust Larry rolled the balaclava hood down onto his neck, revealing a crooked, gritty smile on his mustached face as he held the truck on course. I hung off the passenger-side running board and navigated. As we came to the gate, I saw Horseface, who’d just cut the locks. As he waved us through, I heard firing from the barracks area. “Just keep moving.”

It took us a little over ten minutes to make the LZ where we’d touched down. We parked the truck at the side of the old runway, set up a perimeter, and waited. About five minutes later PV’s platoon arrived, he and one of the petty officers supporting a thin, gray-haired man well past middle age, in a filthy white shirt and stained gray trousers, and a pair of heavy-framed eyeglasses worn with an elastic band to keep them on his head. I went over to him and shook his hand.

“You all right, sir?”

He nodded. “A bit shaky, Commander.”

The accent was pure Deutschland. I wondered where they’d found him. It didn’t matter. I role-played as if I didn’t know we were all following a script. “German?”

“Yes. Thank you for coming for me.”

I did an exaggerated Three Musketeers bow. “Commander Otto Von Piffle at your service,” I said in a passable Otto Preminger accent. “It vass mein pleasure to koming to der rescue because zay heff vays of making you talk, you know.”

The hostage’s eyes went wide.

PV spoke a burst of rapid-fire German. He’d learned the language during a 26-month stint with the Kampfschwimmerkompanie—the combat swimmers who were the West German equivalent of SEALs. The hostage laughed.

“What’d you tell him?”

“I told him, ‘What the commander meant to say is that he’s glad you’re okay.’ Then I added that you’re not as stupid or ugly as you might appear at first sight.”

PV’s two squads reinforced the perimeter. The watch said nine minutes until the choppers arrived. Cheeks and his two squads showed up moving at a trot. Four or five of the SEALs carried boxes on their shoulders.

“Intel goodies,” Cheeks said. “All sorts of stuff—plans, maps, receipts. And diagrams—bases in Puerto Rico and on the mainland, too. The DIA dip-dunks’ll have a field day with it all.”

I threw an exaggerated salute at Cheeks. “I do love it so when you make the dip-dunks happy, Lieutenant. It keeps ’em off my back.”

Cheeks returned the gesture. “You’re welcome, sweet cakes.”

Automatic weapons fire from the rear. “Let’s be careful out there,” I shouted. “No time to start losing people now.” I’d been about to light the flares to guide the choppers in, but it didn’t make sense to tell whoever was shooting at us precisely where we were.

I saw Jew emerge from the scrub at the far end of the clearing. I waved him over.

“Jew, what’s up?”

“They must have had more people than we knew about—or some of those guys we shot just got up and walked away. We’re taking fire.”

The kid was good. He was right about the tangos just walking away—except he just didn’t know it. I gave him a concerned look. “Anybody hurt?”

Jew nodded. “Two—nothing serious. One sprained ankle on the path, one ran into a thorn bush in the dark.”

“Just keep the tangos out of our hair until the choppers get here.”

“Aye-aye, Skipper.” Jew melted back into the jungle.

It was time to illuminate the LZ. We set out six white strobes and three red ones. To guide the choppers in on final approach we had neon-green light-sticks.

The firing got closer. I looked skyward anxiously. The goddamn Air Force was probably taking a coffee break. That’s how they worked—like union bus-drivers—most of the time. Six or seven hours of flight time (not to exceed this or that altitude, of course), and then it was bye-bye for a didy change, a nap, and a cup of cocoa.

We could run for a week with no sleep, then do a 35,000-foot-jump hop-and-pop exercise, pick ourselves up, and do it all over again. Not fly-boys. I checked my watch. They were now late.

I called JSOC. “Where the hell are our choppers?”

“They’re on the way. Relax.”

“Relax?” Who the hell were these idiots, anyway? I put the German under the truck and hunkered down with PV. It seemed like an eternity until we heard the sound of rotors. They’d kept us waiting eighteen minutes. On a hot LZ, you can lose your entire force in eighteen minutes.

The quartet of choppers, their long refueling nozzles projecting from the noses of the aircraft like knights’ lances, circled the LZ lazily to pick the spots where they’d set down. Unbelievably, they were doing an admin—administrative—approach. That is, they were landing as if they were coming into a runway at an Air Force base. To them, this was only an exercise—so why the hell should they put themselves out? Assholes—I’d kill the sons of bitches after we got out of here.

I shook my light-stick at them to drop quickly. This was supposed to be a hot LZ. They were supposed to fly as if there were ground fire. Their job was to come in, drop their ramps, scoop us up, and get the hell out. I waved my arms like a madman. The pilots were oblivious. They settled in as if they were landing on the White House lawn—and started to cut their engines.

“No no no no no. Keep ’em revved up. Move it,” I screamed, windmilling my light-stick. I pointed PV toward the nearest chopper, which was dropping its aft ramp. “Get the hostage on board.” I watched while PV and his crew hustled the German up the ramp. That was fourteen plus one. I ran the light-stick in a circle at the pilot. “Get the hell outta here.”

He gave me a thumbs-up. The six rotors started up again, the jet turbines reached full thrust, and he lifted off. Three to go. Cheeks was loading the intel in one bird while my platoon ran the nuke into the second. As soon as they’d strapped it down, I tossed Alpha squad aboard and waved the chopper into the air. That was two. Twenty-one SEALs airborne.

I stuck my head into the third chopper’s forward hatch and screamed at the pilot. “Rev it up—I’ll tell you when to go.” I ran to Cheeks’ position on the perimeter and pointed toward the chopper. “Get the strobes and the chutes and take my Bravo squad, then get the hell out of here. I’ll ride with Jew.”

“Affirmative.” He got his guys working. One group collected the lights and heaved them onto the chopper while the other retrieved our chutes from the underbrush where we’d concealed them and threw the piles of silk up the ramp, past Cheeks, who stood at the top, his HK pointing skyward, waving men on, counting. “Let’s get moving.”

When I saw they were all loaded and aboard, I pointed at the pilot. “Go!”

Another twenty SEALs gone. That left Jew’s fourteen—and me.

I shouted for Jew into the Motorola mike. No answer. “Jew, goddammit—” I realized I’d pulled the plug out of its socket. I fixed it and shouted his name again.

“Coming, Dickie.”

I waited as Jew’s platoon emerged from the darkness, running in leapfrog pattern, their route punctuated by short bursts from the MP5s. I grabbed a couple of them by the vests and threw them toward the chopper. Jew and I were last on board. As the ramp shut, we gave the LZ a good burst of submachine-gun fire. “Move it!” I shouted to the crew chief.

Then we were airborne. Mission perfect. Rehearsal or not, I was one happy goddamn SEAL CO. I checked my watch. I slammed my palm into Jew’s chest, knocking him ass over teakettle into a startled Air Force master sergeant. I perused my SEALs. “You guys are wonderful.”

•   •   •

I could see the C-141 StarLifter’s huge, black fuselage as we banked into the air base on the main island. I hoped the flight crew had some cold beer on board—we were going to need it. The first of the choppers was already on the ground, disgorging SEALs and the hostage. The second and third were just settling in. I felt so good I forgot about putting the chopper pilots in the hospital for their 18-minute delay and admin approaches back at Vieques.

We set down. I was first off, hitting the ground before the ramp did. I ran to the StarLifter. Yeah—there was beer on board. Terrific—we were going to party on the way home. I loped over to PV and Cheeks and slapped them on the back. I assembled my troops. “Great job. Terrific. Fuck you all very much, you merry murdering cockbreath shit-for-brains assholes.”

Oh, I was full of myself. But justifiably, goddammit. Justifiably. Exercise or not—what we’d done tonight had never, ever, been done before by a military unit. We’d flown three thousand goddamn miles, inserted four SEAL platoons in a clandestine, high-altitude, high-opening, mass, night jump, parasailed ten miles to our objective, landed in a single group on a drop zone no bigger than a couple of football fields, assembled, taken down a bunch of bad guys, rescued a hostage, snatched back a nuke, and hadn’t lost a single SEAL in the process.

This is what we’d groomed ourselves for; why we’d busted our asses. We’d practiced each risky element—shooting, jumping, parasailing, clandestine infiltration, hostage snatch, and extraction—separately. But we’d never put all of them together before; never run a real-time, full-tilt boogie war game until tonight.

The German came toward me. “You and your men did very well,” he said.

“Thank you. I’m proud of them.”

“You should be.”

I started to say something else when a Beetle Bailey Army colonel in starched fatigues and half-inch-thick glasses marched across the tarmac. “Commander Marcinko?”

“Aye-aye, sir.”

“I have a message for you to call Joint Special Operations Command.”

“Sure.” I took the SATCOM from my vest and punched up JSOC.

“It’s Marcinko.” I waited. A familiar voice came on the line.

“Dick.”

“Sir—”

“You did wonderfully—better than we expected. The Joint Chiefs are impressed.”

I liked that. There had been some real skepticism at the Joint Chiefs about whether or not we’d been ready for a mission. Unlike Delta, which was based on the British SAS and went through an SAS-like administrative certification process, I had refused to let my men be graded by outsiders.

My argument was simple: what we were training to do hadn’t ever been done before. So how the hell would some four-star, pencil-dicked Pentagon paper-pusher know whether or not we were good at it?

My conclusion was, they wouldn’t. What I’d told the chain of command in no uncertain terms was, “Thank you very much, sirs, but I’ll certify SEAL Team Six myself.”

But it wasn’t to be. The command structure can—and had—imposed its will on us, no matter how I felt. The Vieques exercise was ample evidence of that. The voice in my ear continued, “Dick, this has been a first-rate exercise. I think you and your troops need a couple of days off while we analyze and evaluate.”

Analyze and evaluate. Those bureaucratic syllables made me cringe. Ever since Vietnam, even the military’s vocabulary had shifted from martial to managerial in tone. Goddammit—we didn’t need managers, we needed leaders, warriors, hunters. Instead, we got accountants. It seemed that every time I’d get prowling and growling some three-star asshole would slip a choke-leash around my neck and give it a yank to show he could make me heel. Well, it was time to growl back. Throw a shit fit. Chew the carpet. Play crazy. I owed it to my men. Shit—I owed it to myself. I raised my voice to let them hear as I shouted into the mouthpiece. “Exercise? Analyze? Evaluate? What the fuck, General? Over.”

He played his role well, too. “I couldn’t say anything until now, Dick. It was imposed by the Joint Chiefs on me.” He paused. “And you did great. Six is certified. You’re in business—as of right now.”

“Well, thank you for that valuable information, sir. I’m sure my men will appreciate your opinion.” I wondered whether he caught the irony in my voice. Surreptitiously, I flicked the transmit button on the SATCOM to off and covered it with my hand. Then I continued my “conversation.” PV, Cheeks, and Jew drifted closer as my voice grew louder and more disturbed. “You did what? You switched ammunition on us in the armory?”

I shouted into the dead SATCOM, “Sir, this was a goat-fuck. Goddammit—you can’t hang up on—”

The Beetle Bailey colonel was peering into the fuselage of my C-141. He turned toward me. “Commander, you have beer in there—that’s against regulations.”

I started toward him. “Hey, Colonel—how’d you like a new asshole?”

PV tackled me and grabbed my combat vest with both hands, slowing me down like a sea anchor. He’s five inches shorter than I am, but he was a boxer at the Academy and he’s a tough little scrapper. “Lighten up, Dick.” He turned to the colonel. “I think it’s better if you leave us alone right now, sir. We’re all just a little worked up, and it could be, ah, dangerous for you to stay around.”

Paul’s heels were dragging on the tarmac. The colonel saw the look of mayhem in my eyes as I pulled my XO toward him, and he beat a hasty retreat.

Paul let go. “He’s not worth it, Dick.”

“Screw you.”

Cheeks and Jew slammed me on the back. “Hey, Skipper,” Jew said, “about the Joint Chiefs and all that crap—chill out. It’s okay. We knew.”

“Knew what?”

“That it was a full mission profile,” said PV.

“Had to be an exercise,” said Cheeks. “No casualties. Lots of firing and no scratches. Plus—the tangos wore shooting glasses—every one of them.”

I was smiling inside. I’d picked these men because I believed they were smart. Goddammit, they were smart. “So why didn’t any of you numb-nuts say anything?”

“I remembered the sign every SEAL sees the day he begins his training,” PV said. “The one that reads, ’The more you sweat in training, the less you bleed in combat.’ Besides, we’d never put it all together before, boss—seemed like a good idea to play it out and see if it worked.”

He was right of course. I wheeled toward the C-141. “Let’s get moving.”

PV punched me on the arm, hard enough to hurt. “Aye-aye, boss.” He pointed his index finger in the air and drew circles with it. “Come on, guys—load up. Let’s go get drunk.”

He was right. Screw ’em all. It was time to get drunk and go home.
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GOING HOME IS NOT SOMETHING I’VE EVER BEEN VERY GOOD at. I certainly didn’t do it much as a youngster. I was born on Thanksgiving Day, 1940, in my grandmother Justine Pavlik’s house in Lansford, Pennsylvania, a tiny mining town in Carbon County—appropriate, isn’t it?—just east of Coaldale and Hometown. For the uninitiated, that’s about half an hour northwest of Allentown, and a lifetime from Philadelphia. My father, George, and mother, Emilie Teresa Pavlik Marcinko, never made it as far as the hospital delivery room. Typical.

I’m Czech on both sides. My mother is short and Slavic looking. My father was big—just under six feet—dark, brooding, and had a nasty temper. All the men in the family—and virtually every male in Lansford as well—were miners. They were born, they worked the mines, they died. Life was simple and life was hard, and I guess some of them might have wanted to pull themselves up by the bootstraps, but most were too poor to buy boots.

We lived on top of the hill, just around the corner from Kanuch’s, where we got our groceries and Old Man Kanuch would lick the thick pencil stub before he wrote down what we’d taken in his ledger book. He’d keep a tab and collect from us on payday. It would probably have been cheaper to shop at the A & P six blocks away, but hardly anybody did. You went where you were known.

If I’m ornery, and there are those who think I am, I probably got it from my maternal grandfather. Joe Pavlik was a cantankerous, short, barrel-chested, shot-and-a-beer, hard-drinking son of a bitch with a square face, and Leonid Brezhnev eyebrows, who worked the mines all his life and never complained about it once. I don’t remember him ever complaining about anything. He was a real hell-raiser—one of those archetypal tough guys you see in working-class bars, with big, wide, labor-toughened hands that look as if they were designed to go around old-fashioned beer glasses.

I was always independent. I had my own paper route by the age of five. At seven, I was taking off for a day at a time, running through the mile-long Lehigh Railroad tunnel to swim in the Hauto reservoir. You could get there by going through the old Lansford water tunnel, too, but there were huge rats living in the water tunnel, and besides, it was farther up the mountain. So I took the shortcut—and my chances—with the trains. I got nailed a few times. The first time the steam locomotive bore down on me I thought I’d die. I held my breath and squeezed my eyes tightly, hugging the wet stone tunnel wall as car after car after car went by ka-chang-ka-chang about a foot from my nose. My dad, George, beat the crap out of me after I told him what I’d done. Thereafter, whenever I used the railroad tunnel, I kept my mouth shut.

Neither of my parents was big on education. My dad probably dropped out of school around eighth grade; my mother may have gotten as far as ninth or tenth. Neither of them ever put any emphasis on book learning, so school was something I never took very seriously. I was much more interested in having fun—or making money.

Fun, before I discovered women, consisted of swimming at Hauto and summer vacations in the Catskill Mountains—the Jewish Alps—where my uncle Frank and aunt Helen had a boardinghouse. Money was always a problem. The mines closed down when I was in the seventh grade, and after several months of just scraping by, my father finally found work as a welder in New Brunswick, New Jersey. We moved to New Brunswick in 1952. I went through real culture shock. Lansford was a town of maybe four thousand, mostly Czech. In New Brunswick, there were Poles, Hungarians, Irish, Jews, blacks, and Hispanics. That took some getting used to, with the result that I both gave and received more than my fair share of welts and bruises on the walk between school and the small basement apartment we could afford.

Life around the house was not pleasant. My mother’s brother moved in with us—three adults and two kids (by then I had a brother) crammed in a three-room apartment. When my parents fought, which was often, my mother’s brother would take her side. The result was that my father spent less and less time at home. My younger brother, Joey, who was nine or ten at the time, was close to my mother, so he stayed around the house with her. Me, I couldn’t stand the place. So I went off on my own, returning only to sleep or do what little homework I did.

I escaped by working as a pin-setter in a bowling alley, doing whatever odd jobs I could find—even by serving seven A.M. Sunday mass as an altar boy. On the days I decided to show up, I went to St. Ladislaus Hungarian Catholic School, where like generations of students before me, I had my knuckles rapped by nuns hefting wicked rulers. But I never liked classes very much. I cruised through school on autodrive, much more concerned with earning pocket money than A’s or B’s.

During my sophomore year, for example, I worked sixty hours a week at a luncheonette called Gussy’s, just off the Rutgers campus. During the summer vacation I worked there a hundred and twenty hours a week—from five A.M. until ten at night, seven days a week. The hours were long but the money was great: a dollar an hour, off the books. That was a real windfall for a 15-year-old in 1955.

Besides, Gussy—his full name was Salvatore Puleio Augustino, but I can’t remember anyone ever using it—treated me like his own family. He took me upstairs, where his father, Old Man Sal, lived, and filled me with pasta and sauce, and sausages and chicken and huge platters of vegetables sautéed in olive oil and garlic, instead of my having to eat meat loaf or Salisbury steak off the luncheonette steam table. Old Man Sal let me watch as he made wine in the basement, and I developed a real taste for Chianti. I even picked up enough Italian to get by at the dinner table, which Sal’s old man just loved. Gussy made a real Czech guinea out of me.

Because I had a lot of money in my jeans for a teenager, I even bought a car, a chrome-yellow 1954 Mercury convertible, as soon as I was old enough to get my driver’s license—the day after my seventeenth birthday.

Things were made even more interesting because Gussy’s was a hangout for many of the Rutgers fraternity guys, some of whom adopted me as a kind of mascot. I spent a fair amount of time in the Rutgers Greek houses, which ultimately turned out to be a great and enlightening experience. The exposure helped smooth a few of my roughest edges. When most of the kids from backgrounds similar to mine were sporting pegged trousers and motorcycle jackets, and styled their hair like Elvis or Dion, I dressed in button-down shirts, chinos, and Harris tweed sports coats. I learned how to drink beer at an early age, and—more important—how to handle it, too. My fraternity friends also instructed me in some of the finer points involved in the constant search for meaningful female companionship.

The inculcation worked. The summer between my sophomore and junior years—I was fifteen—I met a beautiful and sophisticated young student teacher named Lucette at one of the fraternity parties. We hit it off right away. She was a French major, and I spoke my pidgin Italian, and we clicked. I was big for my age and always had cash in my wallet, and I talked and dressed like I went to Rutgers and acted like I owned the goddamn fraternity house, so she never realized I was a high-school kid.

She found out the hard way. With what the inscrutable Orientals might call a dose of Real Bad Karma, she was assigned to teach a third-year high-school French class in September and saw my beaming face in the third row. Zut alors!

By the time I was seventeen I’d gone through a bunch of changes. My parents split up. My mother took a job at Sears, and we—she, my younger brother, and I—moved into public housing. My father rented a furnished room over a Slovak bar called Yusko’s, just a few doors down from the luncheonette where I worked. He’d spend a lot of time there and I’d drop by Yusko’s to visit. The place could have been transplanted from Lansford, with its pickled pig’s feet in big jars, and hard-boiled eggs sitting in bowls, and three or four guys who looked like Joe Pavlik sitting on the barstools from ten in the morning until closing time, drinking steadily and chainsmoking Camels. My old man was happy there because it reminded him of home. George Marcinko never got used to New Brunswick.

Meanwhile, I was spending less and less time in school—cutting classes regularly—and more and more of my time with a young Italian woman who was married to a guy twenty-seven years her senior and in serious need of vigorous humping and pumping, which I was all too willing to provide. I quit Gussy’s and went to work as a counterman at a Greek place in the heart of New Brunswick. The money was good—about $200 a week including tips, for about half the time I’d been spending at Gussy’s. Moreover, the chefs were willing to teach me some rudimentary cooking and baking skills, so I saw the job as a way to learn a trade. That was a first for me. I’d never really considered what I’d do with my life.

I finally quit school altogether. As I would refer to it some years later in official-sounding language, I “voluntarily disenrolled” in February 1958. Continuing just didn’t seem to make any sense. The classes all seemed to be b.s. anyway. And who needed a high-school diploma? There was money to be made, and women to be hustled, and you could drive down to the shore and lie on the beach for a couple of days at a time—I didn’t need an education for any of that. So I split.

I also tried to join the military. When President Eisenhower sent Marines to Lebanon, I volunteered. I liked their dress blues and their swords. So I went down to the Marine recruiter, walked in, and probably said something asinine like, “Well, friend, I’d kind of like to go shoot a few bad guys. Where’s my rifle, where’s the ammo, and when can I leave?”

And the recruiting sergeant most likely restrained himself from reducing me to a pile of rubble and said, “Look, sonny, you gotta go to boot camp before we let you kick any ass, and besides, you’re underage and you haven’t finished high school. So why not get your diploma, and then we’ll talk.”
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